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Orla Murphy

From: Olive.Mulhall <Olive.Mulhall@defence.ie>
Sent: 02 July 2018 14:01
To: Orla Murphy
Subject: RE: 160727 - Proposed Solar Farm at Timahoe North, SID Determination

Hi Órla, 
 
Please see observations below from the Air Corps regarding the proposed Solar Farm at Timahoe North. 
 

Due to Aviation activity in the area outlined, An Aviation Impact assessment for the development should 
be completed to include glint and glare observations. 
 
If you need any more information, please let me know. 
 
Kind Regards, 
Olive 

Olive Mulhall 

Property Management Branch 

An Roinn Cosanta  

Department of Defence 

Bóthar an Stáisiúin, An Droichead Nua, Contae Chill Dara, W12 AD93. 

Station Road, Newbridge, Co.Kildare, W12 AD93. 

T +353 (0)45 492189 

E-mail: olive.mulhall@defence.ie  
 

From: Orla Murphy <omurphy@mccarthykos.ie>  
Sent: 26 June 2018 11:32 
To: Olive.Mulhall <Olive.Mulhall@defence.ie> 
Subject: 160727 ‐ Proposed Solar Farm at Timahoe North, SID Determination 
 
Dear  Ms. Mulhall, 
 
Please find attached information relating to the proposed Bord na Móna and ESB Solar Farm Development, located 
at Timahoe North, northwest Co. Kildare, in which we previously scoped with yourselves.  
This letter includes an update relating to the recent response from An Bord Pleanála in regard to the Strategic 
Infrastructure Development (SID) status of the proposed project. 
 
Please contact me if you need any further information.  
 
Regards 
 
Órla  
 
Órla Murphy B.Sc M.Sc 
Environmental Scientist 
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Orla Murphy

From: Environmental Co-ordination (Inbox) <Environmental_Co-
ordination@agriculture.gov.ie>

Sent: 21 June 2018 15:17
To: Orla Murphy
Subject: Scoping Document for Proposed Solar Energy Development, Timahoe North, Co. 

Kildare

Dear Ms Murphy, 
I refer to your recent correspondence concerning the above. At this time the Department of Agriculture, Food and 
the Marine has no observations or comments to make. 
  
Kind Regards 
_|é 
  
Liz McDonnell | Executive Officer,An tAonad um Chomhordú Timpeallachta, An Rannóg um Athrú Aeráide agus Beartas 
Bithfhuinnimh, 
Environmental Co-ordination Unit |Climate Change & Bioenergy Policy Division | environmentalco-ordination@agriculture.gov.ie 
An Roinn Talmhaíochta, Bia agus Mara 
Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine 
Lárionad Gnó Grattan, Bóthar Bhaile Átha Cliath, Port Laoise, Co Laoise, R32 K857 
Grattan Business Centre, Dublin Road, Portlaoise, Co. Laoise, R32 K857 
T +353 (0)57 868 9915 
www.agriculture.gov.ie 
  

From: Orla Murphy [mailto:omurphy@mccarthykos.ie]  
Sent: 09 May 2018 12:06 
To: McDonnell, Liz 
Subject: 160727 - Scoping Document for Proposed Solar Energy Development, Timahoe North, Co. Kildare 
  
Dear Ms. McDonnell 
  
Please find attached a cover letter and Scoping Document for a proposed solar energy development at Timahoe 
North, in northwest Co. Kildare. 
  
As part of the scoping exercise for the proposed development, we would welcome any comments in relation to the 
proposed project.  
  
I have reduced the size of the document for email, although the document and figures are still fit for purpose.  
If you have any queries, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
  
Kind regards, 
  
Órla 
  
Órla Murphy B.Sc M.Sc 
Assistant Environmental Scientist 
  
McCarthy Keville O'Sullivan Ltd. 
Planning & Environmental Consultants 
  
Block 1, G.F.S.C. Moneenageisha Road, Galway, H91 N8KK 
T: (091) 73 56 11 || E: info@mccarthykos.ie || W: www.mccarthykos.ie  



1

Orla Murphy

From: Manager Dau <Manager.Dau@chg.gov.ie>
Sent: Wednesday 18 July 2018 15:12
To: Orla Murphy
Subject: RE: 160727 - Scoping Document for Proposed Solar Energy Development, Timahoe North, Co. 

Kildare

Hi Órla, 
 
Thanks for your email. I can confirm that the Department has no comments at this stage. 
 
Kind regards, 
 
Yvonne 
 
—— 

Yvonne Nolan 
Higher Executive Officer 
—— 

An Roinn Cultúir, Oidhreachta agus Gaeltachta 
Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht 
 

Aonad na nIarratas ar Fhorbairt 
Development Applications Unit 
 

Bóthar an Bhaile Nua, Loch Garman, Contae Loch Garman, Y35 AP90 
Newtown Road, Wexford, County Wexford, Y35 AP90 
—— 
 
T +353 (0)53 911 7382 
manager.dau@ahg.gov.ie 
www.chg.gov.ie 
—— 
 
 
 

From: Orla Murphy [mailto:omurphy@mccarthykos.ie]  
Sent: 18 July 2018 15:08 
To: Manager Dau 
Subject: RE: 160727 - Scoping Document for Proposed Solar Energy Development, Timahoe North, Co. Kildare 
 
Hi Yvonne 
  
Following on from your email dated 14th May, we are still awaiting a response from yourselves in regards to the 
proposed Solar Energy Development at Timahoe North, Co. Kildare scoping document that we sent out. Would you be 
able to provide us with an update on this? 
  
Many thanks 
  
Órla 
  
Órla Murphy B.Sc M.Sc 
Environmental Scientist 
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Orla Murphy

Subject: FW: Scoping Opinion: Bord na Mona and ESB - Proposed solar farm development Timahoe North, 
Co Kildare (Our ref: 2119)

From: EIAPlanning <eiaplanning@epa.ie>  
Sent: 18 July 2018 13:41 
To: McCarthy Keville O’Sullivan Ltd. <info@mccarthykos.ie> 
Subject: Scoping Opinion: Bord na Mona and ESB ‐ Proposed solar farm development Timahoe North, Co Kildare (Our 
ref: 2119) 

Our Ref: 2119 
Re:              Scoping Opinion under Article 5(2) of Directive 2014/52/EU (EIA Directive) 
                   Bord na Mona and ESB 

      Proposed Solar Farm Development at Timahoe North, Co Kildare 
Dear Sir or Madam, 
I refer to the scoping request for Bord na Mona and ESB, received by the Agency on 10 May 2018.  In 
accordance with the requirements of Article 5 (2) of Directive 2014/52/EU on the assessment of the effects of 
certain public and private projects on the environment, the Agency has consulted with the Planning Authority, 
Kildare County Council and the Health Services Executive in this instance.  The authorities have not provided a 
response within the timeframe set out. 
 
Having regard to the specific characteristics of the project, including location and technical capacity, and likely 
impact on the environment, the Agency is of the opinion that the scope and level of detail to be included in the 
environmental impact assessment report should as a minimum: 
 
(i) identify, describe and assess in an appropriate manner, in light of each individual case, the direct and 

indirect significant effects of a project on each of the factors listed in Article 3 of the Directive 

2014/52/EU;    

(ii) have regard to the requirements of the draft Guidelines on the information to be contained in 

Environmental Impact Assessment Reports, as appropriate; 

(iii) have regard to the relevant topics contained in the EPA’s Advice Notes on Current Practice (in the 

preparation of Environmental Impact Statements) September 2003; 

(iv) satisfy the requirements of Directive 2014/52/EU. 

If you require any further information in relation to this matter, please contact the undersigned. 
For  all  further  queries  and  correspondence  relating  to  planning  and  EIA  matters,  please  contact
eiaplanning@epa.ie 
Yours sincerely, 

 
______________________ 
Leo Sweeney 
Office of Environmental Sustainability 
Environmental Protection Agency 
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Orla Murphy

Subject: FW: Orla Murphy RE: EIA Scoping Document for the proposed large scale Bord na 
Mona & ESB Solar farm development at Timahoe North, Co. Kildare (Project No. 
160727)

Attachments: Guidelines Report 2016.pdf

From: Noel McGloin [mailto:Noel.McGloin@fisheriesireland.ie]  
Sent: 18 May 2018 17:19 
To: McCarthy Keville O’Sullivan Ltd. <info@mccarthykos.ie> 
Cc: 'Francis Carolan' <fjcarolan@eircom.net>; Robert Bergin <robertbergin@yahoo.co.uk> 
Subject: FAO: Orla Murphy RE: EIA Scoping Document for the proposed large scale Bord na Mona & ESB Solar farm 
development at Timahoe North, Co. Kildare (Project No. 160727) 
 
Dear Ms. Murphy 
 
We wish to make the following submission to you regarding the above, which is within the functional area of IFI – 
Dublin (ERBD).  
 
Inland Fisheries Ireland (IFI) is a Statutory Body established on the 1st July 2010 .Under section 7(1) of the Inland 
Fisheries Act 2010 (No. 10 of 2010) the principal function of IFI is the protection, management and conservation of 
the inland fisheries resource. Under section 7(3) of the IFI Act it is stated that without prejudice to subsection (1), IFI 
shall in the performance of its functions have regard to(g) the requirements of the European Communities (Natural 
Habitats) Regulations 1997 (S.I. No. 94 of 1997) and the need for the sustainable development of the inland fisheries 
resource (including the conservation of fish and other species of fauna and flora habitats and the biodiversity of 
inland water ecosystems),(h) as far as possible, ensure that its activities are carried out so as to protect the national 
heritage (within the meaning of the Heritage Act 1995). 
 
The EU Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC) entered into force in December 2000 requires the protection of 
the ecological status of river catchments – this encompasses water quality and requires the conservation of habitats 
for ecological communities. One of the primary objectives of the Directive is to establish a framework which 
prevents further deterioration and protects and enhances the status of aquatic ecosystems. Protection of aquatic 
ecosystems requires that river systems be protected on a catchment basis. 
 
Article 5 of the 2009 Surface Water Regulations requires that a public authority, in performance of its functions, 
shall not undertake those functions in a manner that knowingly causes or allows deterioration in the chemical or 
ecological status of a body of surface water. Also article 28(2) of the said Regulations states that a surface water 
body whose status is determined to be less than good shall be restored to at least good status not later than the end 
of 2015 and any water body of good status should remain at least this status.  
 
As you have noted  this site (site of solar panels) is within the  Enfield Blackwater River catchment at Timahoe North. 
The is currently at good status and should remain so. The Enfield Blackwater contains stocks of Atlantic salmon, 
Brown Trout and lamprey. It contain prime salmonid nursery beds.  
 
Our main concern is with regard to the construction phase of this project, especially with regard to in‐stream works. 
Please carry out all in‐stream works as per our Guidelines (attached). Please note that the timing to carry out any in‐
stream works are the months July to September in order to facilitate lamprey populations. 
 
Our preference would be for overhead cabling as this would have the least effect on fisheries interests. 
 
Yours sincerely 
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Noel McGloin 
Senior Fisheries Environmental Officer 
Inland Fisheries Ireland  ‐ Dublin  
  
‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
  
Iascach Intire Eireann 
Inland Fisheries Ireland 
  
Telephone: +353 (0) 1  8842688  
  
 
  
EMail: noel.mcgloin@fisheriesireland.ie 
Web: www.fisheriesireland.ie 
  
3044 Lake Drive, City West, Dublin 24, IRELAND. D24 Y265 
                   
 
Help Protect Ireland's Inland Fisheries  
 

Call 1890 34 74 24 to report illegal fishing, water pollution or invasive species. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This email and any attachments to it may be confidential and are intended solely for the use of the individual to 
whom it is addressed. Any views or opinions expressed are solely those of the author and do not necessarily 
represent those of Inland Fisheries Ireland. If you are not the intended recipient of this email, you must neither take 
any action based upon its contents, nor copy or show it to anyone. Please contact the sender if you believe you have 
received this email in error.  
  
D?fh?adfa? go bhfuil an r?omhphost seo agus ceangalt?in ar bith at? in ?ineacht leis faoi r?n agus iad beartaithe 
d??s?id an duine a bhfuil a s(h)eoladh air amh?in. Dearctha? n? tuairim? ar bith at? curtha in i?l ann, baineann siad 
leis an ?dar amh?in, agus n? chaithfidh go n‐aonta?onn Iascaigh Int?re ?ireann leo. Mura tusa faighteoir beartaithe 
an r?omhphoist seo, n? d?an rud ar bith mar gheall ar an m?id at? ann, n? ? a ch?ipe?il n? ? a thaispe?int do dhuine 
ar bith eile. D?an teagmh?il leis an seolt?ir, le do thoil, m? chreideann t? go bhfuair t? an r?omhphost seo tr? 
earr?id. 
 



coMhairle chaoMhnaithe Phortaigh na hÉireann

irish Peatland conservation council

Lullymore, Rathangan, Co. Kildare, Ireland  R51 V293 Tel/Teil: +353-(0)45-860133 
Liolach Mór, Rath Iomgáin, Co. Chill Dara, Éire, R51 V293 e-mail/ríomhphost: bogs@ipcc.ie    web/idirlíon: www.ipcc.ie

Re: Timahoe North Solar Project Scoping (County Kildare)

Dear Ms Murphy,

Thank you for consulting the Irish Peatland Conservation Council regarding the Timahoe North Solar Farm

Project. Please note that IPCC have had two meetings with Sean Creedon regarding this development. The Irish

Peatland Conservation Council (IPCC) was established in 1982 and has 35 years of experience in peatland con-

servation. Our aim is to conserve a representative sample of intact peatlands. While it has been estimated that

only 1% of Ireland’s original extent of raised bogs remain, only 10% of this remains in a conservation worthy

state. This is due to a number of factors including domestic/industrial peat extraction and habitat fragmentation

(Ireland’s Peatland Conservation Action Plan 2020, Malone & O’Connell, 2009).  As the losses in County

Kildare have been intense, IPCC’s role is to ensure that the post-industrial peat landscape is managed in such a

way as to promote wetland and as far as possible peatland biodiversity.

Our work is guided by our 6th Action Plan, Ireland’s Peatland Conservation Action Plan 2020, which was

published in 2009. A copy of this document is available for download on our website at www.ipcc.ie. Many of

the actions in our plan have been included within the National Peatlands Strategy which has been adopted by

every Government Department and Local Authority. We would also draw your attention to this document to

ensure its requirements are met in relation to the impacts of the utilisation of peat for electricity generation on

climate change. The National Peatlands Strategy can be downloaded from www.npws.ie.

Legal Obligations to Protect Peatlands - County Kildare

We are legally bound by National and European legislation (The Wildlife Acts, E.U. Habitats and Bird’s

Directives) and international conventions (Ramsar, Bern Convention, Convention on Biological Diversity) to do

our utmost to protect peatlands now and for future generations. In County Kildare specifically, only 6.3% of the

original extent of raised bog remains (Bogs & Fens of Ireland Conservation Plan 2005, Foss, O’Connell,

Crushell, 2001). Peatland habitats have been severely diminished in the country and this destruction is an issue

in other legislation and conventions such as the UN Convention on Climate Change, Bonn Convention, World

Heritage Convention, Water Framework Directive, Environment Liability Directive, Planning and Development

Acts, National Monuments Acts, Environmental Directive, EIA and SEA. All of these legislative instruments

have been adopted by Ireland and the IPCC ask that you assess your development with regard to these legal 

obligations. 

Bogland

The IPCC would advise any developer planning construction in, or within close proximity to peatland habitat to

be familiar with the Environmental Protection Agency funded project BOGLAND (www.ucd.ie/bogland).

This project recommends the best practice guidelines to ensure no damaging development occurs on, or affects

peat soils and peatlands of conservation/biodiversity value. We urge developers to properly assess and screen

for any adverse impacts on the habitat or species utilising them that may occur during the construction of any

infrastructural development such as solar farms. We would also implore developers to have proper plans in

place for the habitat regarding after-use rehabilitation/restoration. The IPCC could not support a development

that does not plan in a conservation  responsible manner.

21th May 2018Ms Órla Murphy 
Mccarthy keville o’sullivan ltd
Block 1, g.f.s.c
Moneenageisha road
galway
omurphy@mccarthykos.ie

Patrons/Pátrúnaí: Pauline Bewick, Don Conroy, HRH Princess Irene of the Netherlands, 
Eanna Ní Lamhna, Matthijs Schouten, His Excellency Mr Peter Kok Netherlands Ambassador to Ireland

Company Secretary/Rúnaí Comhlacht: Rachel Kavanagh
Directors/Stiúrthóirí: Martin Kelly, Catherine O’Connell, Rachel Kavanagh, Jennifer Roche, Seán Ó Fearghail, 

Charity No/Uimhir Carthanacht: CHY6829  Registered in Ireland No/Uimhir Cláraithe in Éirinn: 116156  Registered Office/Oifig Cláraithe: Lullymore, Rathangan, Co. Kildare, R51 V293, Ireland
Governance Code Statement of Compliance: IPCC confirm that our organisation complies with The Governance Code for the Community, Voluntary and Charitable Sector in Ireland.

35 Years taking action for Bogs and Wildlife



Comments specifically in-relation to the proposed Solar Farm Site

IPCC have analysed all of the data we hold in relation to Timahoe. It is clear from the account below that the site sits in a rich

archaeological complex which may indicate that the bog may have been used as a burial site or occupation site by people over the

millennia. This needs archaeological investigation and monitoring during construction. In addition Timahoe bog contributes to river

water quality in the region. The developer needs to be aware of the sensitivity and poor water quality rating in local rivers and

through a hydrology management plan, water quality leaving the site needs to be continuously monitored and improved. In addition

the connection between the hydrology of Timahoe and sites further afield needs to be established. Furthermore set against the cata-

strophic loss of raised bog habitat in Kildare, the developer needs to research and develop a management plan for the various habi-

tats occurring within the site and on its perimeter, particularly raised bogs, open water habitats and bog woodlands. Species of con-

servation concern within this area include Curlew and Common Frog and an action plan for these needs to be included with the

development proposal. Should there be amenity proposals to accompany this development IPCC would request that all of these ele-

ments are included in the interpretation for the public. 

Designated Sites (Map 1)

There are a number of legally designated sites that require the utmost attention in regards to ensuring that no development affects

their ecological functioning. This includes the hydrological aspects of important aquatic features and the flora and fauna which may

be present or utilise the site.

Ballynafagh Lake SAC :- This site is described by the National Parks and Wildlife Service as being of ornithological importance

and contains an area of Alkaline Fen [7230], an Annex I Habitat under the E.U. Habitats Directive. The NPWS Site Synopsis

records that Curlew have been known to hold territory here. There are two species of snail, Moulinsiana pseudosphonaerium which

has only two other known sites in Ireland within the Royal Canal and Vertigo pisidium which is an Annex II species within the E.U.

Habitats Directive. 

Ballynafagh Bog SAC :- This site contains a number of Annex I Habitats including [7110] Active Raised Bog, [7120] Degraded

Raised Bog capable of natural regeneration and [7150] Depressions on peat substrate of the Rhynchosporion. Threats to this site, as

described by the NPWS within the Site Synopsis, are listed as fire, drainage, afforestation and mechanised peat cutting. The site is

known to have had breeding Curlew and breeding Merlin (an Annex I species under the E.U. Birds Directive) utilising the site. This

site is important as it is only one of two intacts raised bog systems designated within County Kildare

The Long Derries, Edenderry pNHA :- The NPWS describe this site as being important as it contains a transition from esker to

peatland and has a varied bird population including breeding Night Jar and Partridge. This site is threatened by the dumping of rub-

bish.

Donadea Wood :- This site comprises of glacial drift soil and contains two species of rare fungus such as Licea testudinacea which

is known at only one other Irish site.

Carbury Bog NHA :- This is a raised bog, which is an Annex I Habitat under the E.U. Habitats Directive and is one of the few

remaining raised bogs in County Kildare. The Red Data Book botanical species Round-leaved Wintergreen is present but the site is

known to be under pressure from peat-cutting and the IPCC Site Database lists this site as also being under pressure from moss peat

extraction and drainage. 

Hodgestown Bog NHA :-  The NPWS Site Synopsis lists this sites as a raised bog which is a rare habitat and listed as Annex I with-

in the E.U.. Habitats Directive as such. This site is already under threat from afforestation, burning, drainage, hand cutting and

mechanical peat extraction. These activities have affected the hydrological functioning of the site but the NPWS site synopsis sug-

gests that since the burning has stopped the natural vegetation is recovering.

Construction and operation of a solar farm may have adverse impacts on the ecological and hydrological functioning of these legally

designated sites. The land use and change in land cover could impact on the ornithological species utilising the designated sites who

may also migrate between them. There may be changes in albedo, temperature, dust production, light/noise production and precipi-

tation. These may result in biodiversity loss through habitat loss and fragmentation with the ongoing operation of the solar farm

contributing to disturbance. Changes in micro-climate may adversely impact the micro-habitats of the legally protected sites. Many

of the designated sites are hydrologically dependant and if the hydrological network between the sites is negatively affected it may

have disastrous consequences for the botanical and animal species.

The IPCC need the developers to ensure that hydrological damage, vibration and noise, peat stability, pollution, invasive species

and habitat fragmentation are considered in planning so that the conservation objectives of these legally and internationally impor-

tant sites are not negatively affected.

Curlew (Map 2)

The Curlew is one of the most endangered species in Ireland and the breeding population has declined by 78% over the past 40

years with less than 130 breeding pairs left (Birdwatch Ireland I-WeBS Newsletter August 2017). The IPCC would like to remind

you that this bird is listed as an ANNEX II section II bird species within the E.U. Birds Directive [Council Directive 79/409/EEC]



and also has a national status of Red on the Birds of Conservation Concern in Ireland list. The National Curlew Task Force is 

working to bring this species back from near extinction in Ireland and we would urge developers to liaise with them. The 

conservation of this species is of utmost concern. There is currently a national initiative to protect this species  and the proposed

project should take proper measures to ensure that this project is not detrimental to any efforts in restoring important breeding 

habitat. Map 2 shows the locations of previous curlew sightings (data from National Biodiversity Data Center) and these should be

investigated to ensure that Curlew will not be adversely affected by either the construction works or through the operation lifespan

of the solar farm. Please ensure that a full bird survey is undertaken on this site.

Water Quality (Map 3)

Ireland has an obligation under the Water Framework Directive to ensure that our waterways are of “Good Ecological Status”. The

river networks around Timahoe are of moderate and poor quality. We would insist that, at the pre-planning stage,  the effects of the

construction and operation of a solar farm at Timahoe North will have on water quality should be fully investigated. We also note

that some of the rivers have not had their ecological quality assessed (un-assigned) and so it will not be known if these rivers have

been affected by the construction or operation of the solar farm. Please ensure that there will be adequate testing and contingency

plans in place to ensure that these rivers are not affected also? 

IPCC Frog Hop To It Database (Map 4)

The IPCC Frog Database holds records of frog sightings within Timahoe Bog on the perimeter or the development site. This is an

indication that there is potentially good quality wetland habitat within the site which needs to be assessed for breeding amphibians.

The lack of data from this site is most likely due to access issues. While frogs can be locally abundant, their population has dimin-

ished in Ireland as they have lost over 50% of their wetland habitat. The presence of frogs need to be fully investigated and plans to

protect them from the construction and operation of the solar farm should incorporated into any EIA or plan. The Common frog is

listed as Annex V within the E.U. Habitats and Species Directive and are also protected by the Irish Wildlife Act and should be

awarded such due protection.

National Monuments (Map 5)

As can be seen on Map 5, there are a number of recorded archeological sites on the perimeter and within Timahoe Bog and sur-

rounding area. These form a context for the peatland site. Proper measures should be taken to protect and preserve these national

monuments. They may be damaged from a change in hydrological functioning or from being exposed after construction works.

Proper plans would account for these historical sites and contain contingency plans in the event of uncovering new finds and also

methods of construction and operation that would erase any chance of damage to the ones already known. We would also implore

the developers to conduct a thorough investigation ensuring a complete inventory of archeological evidence is conducted including

geophysical examinations of the area.

Wetland Surveys Ireland (Map 6)

There are a number of wetlands which have been identified and recorded by Wetland Surveys Ireland (www.wetlandsurveysire-

land.com) within the proposed site and directly on its perimeter. These should be investigated for protection as 50% of Ireland’s

wetlands have been lost through drainage, developments and the resulting habitat fragmentation and loss. Data is available within

the  Kildare Wetland Survey 2012 (available from IPCC, Kildare County Council or Wetland Surveys Ireland) which lists many

wetland sites and also highlights which wetlands have yet to have a proper ecological survey. The IPCC need to see a complete

inventory of sites that may be affected by the proposed development so that no unknown or important species/habitats are lost. The

IPCC urge the developers to liaise with Wetland Surveys Ireland to gather as much data and advice as possible to ensure that all

wetlands are given their due protection from ecological damage as a result of the proposed solar farm. The site network included

within this development proposal are:

52 Timahoe Bog

70 Drehid Wood

99 Mulgeeth Cutaway

112 Mulgeeth

116 Curragh Cutover

211 Mountrice wetland

IPCC need to see a wetland management plan associated with the Solar development for this Timahoe bog complex. Bord na Mona

should consult with their ecology team to develop such a plan as they have expertise in this area. IPCC are particularly concerned

that raised bog remnants are rehabilitated and their drains blocked and that they are designated within the Bord na Mona peatland

conservation programme. This is imperative to ensure that are not developed for products such as sod moss. We are particularly

concerned with sites that are located on the perimeter of the development. Please ensure that excluding such sites from the project

boundary line is not an excuse to do no management work on them.

Invasive Species

Please refer to www.npws.ie, National Biodiversity Action Plan 2017-2021 and Ireland’s Peatland Conservation Action Plan 2020

for information regarding the need to control invasives. Peatlands are susceptible to invasive species during and after construction

works due to the use of vehicles from other construction sites that carry foreign soil into the area, increased traffic and

damage/drainage to peatland. Any development planned on or near peatland should have a management plan in place to eliminate

the risk of alien species and protect Ireland’s native biodiversity through not only the construction phase but also the operational



stage.

Thank-you for taking the time to read this and please inform me when this project goes to planning and acknowledge receipt of this

detailed reply from IPCC. 

Tristram Whyte B.Sc (hons)

Conservation Policy & Fundraising Officer
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